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INTRODUCTION



The Complainant alleges that he was one of two passengers in a limousine owned and operated by the Respondent when it rear-ended another vehicle.  He claims that the driver did not safely operate the vehicle, that the company and driver would not provide him with insurance information or report the accident as required by the Commission, and that he could not find a proper address for the Respondent.  This decision finds that the Respondent did not provide reasonable service or comply with Commission regulations with respect to providing insurance information.  Claims regarding safe operation of the vehicle, the Respondent’s address, and reporting of the accident are denied and dismissed.

HISTORY OF THE PROCEEDING



On March 28, 2016, Thomas James Colligan (Mr. Colligan or Complainant) filed a formal complaint (Complaint) with the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) against Valley Forge Limo Co. LLC t/a VF Chauffeured (Valley Forge or the Company or Respondent).  In the complaint, Mr. Colligan alleged that Valley Forge chauffer, John G. Mikhail, rear-ended a car when he and a friend were in the limousine.  He also alleged that he and his friend were injured in this accident and that Mr. Mikhail refused to give them insurance information.  Mr. Colligan also stated on the complaint form that he attempted to go to the address listed on the VF Chauffeured website and the legal address of Valley Forge Co LLC Entity Number 3902788 and that it appeared to be a fictitious address and that the suite number included in the address  did not exist.  As relief, Complainant stated that the Complaint could be resolved if Mr. Mikhail provided his insurance information.



No Answer was filed in this matter. 



On July 13, 2016, a Hearing Notice was issued in Harrisburg setting the matter for hearing before the undersigned on August 25, 2016 in Philadelphia.  On July 14, 2016, the undersigned issued a Prehearing Order that, inter alia, advised Valley Forge to have an attorney licensed to practice in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania enter an appearance on the company’s behalf no later than August 11, 2016. 



On July 27, 2016, the Hearing Notice was returned to the Harrisburg Office of the Administrative Law Judge with the envelope labeled “RETURN TO SENDER.”  The Prehearing Order was not returned.  



On August 19, 2016, Complainant sent a letter noting that he had attempted to contact the Respondent in order to issue a subpoena but when he visited the address listed with the Pennsylvania Department of State, he could not find it and, again, it appeared to be a false address.  Included in the subpoena was an allegation that Mr. Mikhail engaged in distracted driving by using an electronic device with his hands while the vehicle was in motion.



The hearing began as scheduled on August 25, 2016.  The Complainant represented himself and presented 31 exhibits.  With him as a potential witness was Olga Ayala, the other passenger in the vehicle. 



David Temple, Esq., entered an appearance on behalf of and represented Valley Forge.  John G. Mikhail (the driver or Mr. Mikhail) appeared with Attorney Temple and testified on behalf of Valley Forge Limo.  One exhibit was introduced on behalf of Valley Forge.



As the hearing began, Complainant stated that earlier that morning, he had received the insurance information from the Respondent.  Complainant was allowed to amend his complaint to include the allegations of distracted driving and failure to report to the police.



Complainant’s Exhibit 8-25-26 through Exhibit 8-25-31 were Philadelphia Parking Authority regulations and not admitted.  All other exhibits were admitted.  Complainant pre-marked his exhibits and those identifying numbers are used here.  



The record closed on October 4, 2016 upon receipt of the transcript. 

FINDINGS OF FACT

1.
The Complainant in this case is Thomas James Colligan.
2.
Valley Forge Limo Co, LLC t/a VF Chauffeured (Valley Forge Limo) is the Respondent.
3. 
On October of 2010, Valley Forge Limo received authority from the Commission to transport, as a common carrier, by motor vehicle, persons in limousine service, between points in the counties of Montgomery, Bucks, Delaware, Chester and Lehigh, to points in Pennsylvania and return; excluding that service which is under the jurisdiction of the Philadelphia Parking Authority, Docket Number A-2010-2185476.



4. 
In September of 2015, Valley Forge Limo received authority from the Commission to transport, as a common carrier, by motor vehicle, persons in group and party service, in vehicles seating eleven to fifteen passengers, including the driver, from points in the counties of Berks, Chester and Montgomery, to points in Pennsylvania, and return, excluding service that is under the jurisdiction of the Philadelphia Parking Authority, Docket Number A-2015-2473983.

5.
On March 23, 2016, Complainant confirmed reservation #17471 with Valley Forge Limo for Extended Sedan transportation from Downingtown, Pennsylvania to Newark International Airport on March 25, 2016, pick-up time, 11:45 a.m.  (Exhibit 8-25-1A, B). 

6.
On Friday, March 25, 2016, the Complainant and Olga Ayala were passengers in a limousine operated by Valley Forge Limo.  (Tr. 12).

7.
The driver of the limo on March 25, 2016 was John G. Mikhail, president and managing member of Valley Forge Limo.  (Tr. 29).

8. Complainant and Ms. Ayala were picked up at Complainant’s residence in Downingtown, Pennsylvania at 11:53 a.m. on March 25, 2016.

9. The limousine was to take Complainant and Ms. Ayala to Newark Airport for a flight to Milan, Italy.  (Tr. 12; Exhibit 8-25-13A-C, 8-25-14A-C).

10. While on route to Newark Airport, the limousine rear-ended another automobile.  (Tr. 12-13).
11. The driver was using his phone for GPS and traffic reports on March 25, 2016.  (Tr. 48).

12. Complainant did not see the accident as it occurred.  (Tr. 12).

13. The accident occurred near exit 358 on the Pennsylvania Turnpike.  (Tr. 12-13, Exhibit E-8-25-12).

14. Beginning the day of the accident, in several email and text communications as well as in phone calls and efforts to visit the offices of the Respondent, Complainant attempted to obtain Respondent’s vehicle insurance information (insurance information). (Tr. 20, 8-25-17). 
15. Insurance information was not provided to the Complainant until the morning of the August 25, 2016 hearing.   

16. At the time of the hearing, the Pennsylvania Department of State listed an incorrect address for Valley Forge Limo as 5985 South Gulph Court, King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406.  (Exhibit 8-25-3A-B).

17. The incorrect address, 5985 South Gulph Court, is also listed with the United States Postal Service.  (Exhibit 8-25-4, 8-25-6-7). 

18. The correct contact address is listed on the Valley Forge Limo website as 601 S. Henderson Rd, Suite 210, King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406.  (Exhibit 8-25-5).

19. A July 13, 2016 Hearing Notice issued by the Commission in this matter and mailed to the incorrect address in Commission records, 598 S. Gulph Court, Apt F, was returned as undeliverable. 

20. The address 598 S. Gulph Court, Apt F is listed in the Commission’s Valley Forge group and party transportation authority records at A-2015-247398.
21. The Prehearing Order was sent to 598 S. Gulph Road, rather than Gulph Court, and was not returned as undeliverable. 

22. A September 1, 2015 Secretarial letter issued in A-2015-2473983 was sent to 601 Henderson Road, King of Prussia 19406 and was not returned.  (Tr. 39, Pre-Hearing Order, September 1, 2015 Commission Secretarial letter). 

23. After September 1, 2015, Mr. Mikhail changed the business legal address from 598 S. Gulph Court in King of Prussia to 127 East Valley Creek Road.  (Tr. 60).

24. As of the date of the hearing, the East Valley Creek address was not registered with or provided to the Commission.  (Tr. 60) 

25. The Valley Forge Limo business office is located and vehicles are parked at the Henderson Road address.  (Tr. 60). 

JURISDICTION

As the hearing began, Attorney Temple raised the issue of jurisdiction.  He averred that the accident occurred during a trip from Pennsylvania to New Jersey and therefore, because it was an interstate trip, the matter is governed by the “Federal Motor Carrier Act” and the Commission does not have jurisdiction. 

Counsel is generally correct.  The United States Code, TITLE 49. TRANSPORTATION, provides in pertinent part:

(a)  Motor Carriers of Passengers.-- No state or political subdivision thereof and no interstate agency or other political agency of 2 or more States shall enact or enforce any law, rule, regulation, standard, or other provision having the force and effect of law relating to—
(A)  scheduling of interstate or intrastate transportation (including discontinuance or reduction in the level of service) provided by a motor carrier of passengers subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I of chapter 135 of this title on an interstate route;
 (B)  the implementation of any change in the rates for such transportation or for any charter transportation except to the extent that notice, not in excess of 30 days, of changes in schedules may be required; or
(C)  the authority to provide intrastate or interstate charter bus transportation.
Title 49 U.S.C. § 14501(a).  Additionally, 66 Pa.C.S. § 104 (2016) provides:

§ 104.  Interstate and foreign commerce.
The provisions of this part, except when specifically so provided, shall not apply, or be construed to apply, to commerce with foreign nations, or among the several states, except insofar as the same may be permitted under the provisions of the Constitution of the United States and the acts of Congress.



However, with respect to motor vehicle safety, weight limits and insurance, states retain jurisdiction.  49 U.S.C. § 14501(a)(2).  The Complainant has raised insurance and safety issues and an issue regarding the business address on file with the Commonwealth and the Commission.  As they are among those issues recognized as within state jurisdiction and not among those specifically preempted by federal law, the claims presented by the Complainant will be addressed here. 
DISCUSSION



The Pennsylvania Public Utility Code requires that:

Every public utility shall furnish and maintain adequate, efficient, safe, and reasonable service and facilities, and shall make all such repairs, changes, alterations, substitutions, extensions, and improvements in or to such service and facilities as shall be necessary or proper for the accommodation, convenience, and safety of its patrons, employees, and the public.  Such service also shall be reasonably continuous and without unreasonable interruptions or delay.  Such service and facilities shall be in conformity with the regulations and orders of the commission.

66 Pa.C.S. § 1501.  

Where a Complainant alleges a violation of Section 1501 or any other section of the Code, regulations or a Commission Order, Section 332(a) of the Public Utility Code places the burden of proof on the party seeking relief from the Commission.  66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a).  Therefore, in order to prevail, a complainant must show that the utility is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the complaint.  Patterson v. Bell Tel. Co. of Pa., 72 Pa. PUC 196 (1990).  “Burden of proof” is a duty to establish a fact by a preponderance of the evidence, or evidence more convincing, by even the smallest degree, than the evidence presented by the other party.  Se-Ling Hosiery v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 54, 70 A.2d 854 (Pa. 1950).  The offense alleged and proven must be in violation of the Public Utility Code, the Commission’s regulations or an outstanding order of the Commission.  66 Pa.C.S. § 701.



If a complainant establishes a prima facie case, the burden of presenting the evidence shifts to the utility.  The complainant will prevail if a utility does not rebut the complainant’s evidence.  Where a utility presents rebuttal evidence, the burden of going forward with the evidence shifts back to the complainant, who to prevail must rebut the utility’s evidence by a preponderance of the evidence.  The burden of going forward with the evidence may shift from one party to another, but the burden of proof is always that of a complainant.  Milkie v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm'n, 768 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2001) (Milkie); see also, Burleson v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm'n, 443 A.2d 1373 (Pa. Cmwlth 1982).



With respect to common carriers such as limousines, “[f]ailure of a carrier to comply with this chapter, the terms and conditions of the certificates of public convenience and a Commonwealth or municipal law, ordinance, franchise or regulation governing the operation of motor vehicles, is sufficient cause for the Commission to suspend the right and privilege of the carrier, and to proceed according to statute to revoke and rescind the carrier’s rights and privileges.”  52 Pa.Code § 29.12. 

SAFE OPERATION – DISTRACTED DRIVING



Complainant testified that the driver of the limousine, Mr. Mikhail, engaged in distracted driving because he used an electronic device while driving the limousine on March 25, 2016.  Mr. Mikhail testified that he uses his cell phone for mapping his trip and to monitor traffic but that he does not hold his cell phone.  A prima facie case is not established on this claim. 



A motor carrier engaging in operations authorized by the Commission is required to obey Commonwealth laws.  52 Pa.Code § 29.12.  Concerning electronic devices, the Code states:

  (a)  Prohibition.--No driver shall operate a motor vehicle on a highway or trafficway in this Commonwealth while using an interactive wireless communications device to send, read or write a text-based communication while the vehicle is in motion.  A person does not send, read or write a text-based communication when the person reads, selects or enters a telephone number or name in an interactive wireless communications device for the purpose of activating or deactivating a voice communication or a telephone call.

75 Pa.Code § 3316(a).



The evidence of record does not support finding a violation here.  The Complainant testified that he was lying down on the back seat during the trip and, therefore, whether he directly observed Mr. Mikhail driving while distracted is in question.  The Complainant chose, in this proceeding, not to present the testimony of Ms. Ayala, the other passenger, to confirm any such observation of distracted driving.  There is no evidence to support Complainant’s claim of distracted driving or to contradict the testimony of the driver that he was not driving while distracted by an electronic device or otherwise.  Consequently, no prima facie case is established and Complainant cannot prevail on this issue.

REPORTING THE ACCIDENT



Complainant is concerned that the Respondent did not report the accident to the police.  He testified that he unsuccessfully tried to obtain an accident report number from the police.  There is no Commission requirement that an accident be reported to the police under the circumstances presented.  However, an authorized motor carrier is required to comply with the law of the Commonwealth.  The relevant law provides:

Immediate notice of accident to police department. 

(a)  General rule.--The driver of a vehicle involved in an accident shall immediately by the quickest means of communication give notice to the nearest office of a duly authorized police department if the accident involves:

(1)  injury to or death of any person; or . . .
75 Pa.Code § 3746.

It was not disputed that the police were not notified of the accident.  Mr. Mikhail testified that he did not think that anyone was hurt and that he and the driver of the other vehicle involved in the accident exchanged insurance information but decided not to call the police because it was not necessary.  In support of that decision, Respondent introduced a photo of his limousine, R1, showing minor damage. Also, the passengers, Complainant and Ms. Ayala, continued to the airport in an attempt to take the planned flight.  This supports a finding that, at the time of the accident, Mr. Mikhail was not aware of the injuries to his passengers and had no duty to report the matter to the police.  There is no violation here.  

FAILURE TO PROVIDE INSURANCE INFORMATION 

Complainant contends that the Respondent and its driver did not provide him with insurance information after the accident on March 25, 2016 and would not respond to his email, text and telephone requests for insurance information until the morning of the hearing, August 25, 2016.   



Pennsylvania law requires that a person involved in an accident resulting in injury provide information relating to financial responsibility to any person injured in the accident.  75 Pa.Code § 3744. 
The question presented here is whether the Respondent’s handling of the insurance issue constituted reasonable service.  The statutory definition of “service” is to be broadly construed.  Country Place Waste Treatment Co., Inc. v. Pa. Publ. Util. Comm'n, 654 A.2d 72 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1995).  “Service, used in its broadest and most inclusive sense, includes any and all acts done, rendered, or performed, and any and all things furnished or supplied, and any and all facilities used, furnished, or supplied by public utilities, or contract carriers by motor vehicle, in the performance of their duties under this part to their patrons, employees, other public utilities, and the public, as well as the interchange of facilities between two or more of them . . .”  66 Pa.C.S.A. § 102.



Complainant testified that he requested the insurance information on numerous occasions and that the information was not provided until the morning of the hearing.  His testimony was supported by documentation of his email and texts showing his efforts to contact the company and obtain insurance information. (E-8-25-15 through E-8-25-20, E-8-25-31).  This established a prima facie case of unreasonable service. 

             Mr. Mikhail does not dispute that he failed to provide insurance information at the scene or until the morning of the hearing.  He offers in response that Complainant and Ms. Ayala told him that they were fine after the accident.  He also testified that he believed that they were not hurt because he offered to take them to a hospital immediately after the accident and they declined the offer because they wanted to get to the airport and the Complainant had to get to a place with Wi-Fi so that he could complete payroll obligations.  (Tr. 42-44).  Mr. Mikhail also testified that he did not immediately respond to the texts and email the day of the accident because he was at church until seven o’clock that evening.  (Tr. 45).  This rebuttal is not sufficient to prevail, however.    

         Immediately after the accident, the Mr. Mikhail pulled over to the side of the road, exited the limousine, exchanged information with the driver of the other vehicle, then returned to the limousine and continued to the Newark Airport, where he dropped off the Complainant and Ms. Ayala.  (Tr. 14, Tr. 41).  Later on March 25, 2016, Complainant texted and emailed Valley Forge several times and informed the company that Ms. Ayala was not well, that his knee and side were hurting, that they were “stranded,” that unsuccessful several attempts had been made to call the Valley Forge Limo office, that they did not board the flight to Milan, that he unsuccessfully contacted the police in an effort to obtain an incident number, that they were going to the local emergency room and that he needed to hear from someone from Valley Forge Limo immediately.  (Tr. 15-16, Exhibit 8-25-15 through Exhibit 8-25-20A). 


Complainant attempted to contact Respondent and the driver/manager numerous times on the day of the accident before and after 7:00 p.m. and continued to try to contact Mr. Mikhail and the company the following day and thereafter by text, email and telephone calls. He also attempted to locate and visit the Valley Forge Limo office.  The Respondent and driver/manager were informed that Complainant and Ms. Ayala did not take their flight and instead went to an emergency room for treatment.  (Tr. 20-23; Exhibit 8-25-22). Even with that knowledge, Respondent did not provide insurance information to the Complainant. 
            At some point, the driver did call Complainant and, in response to Complainant’s request for insurance information, the driver contended that Ms. Ayala was not hurt; in other words, he refused to provide the information.  (Tr. 22).  This cannot be considered reasonable service.

Not until the morning of the hearing, about five months after the accident, did the Respondent provide insurance information to the Complainant.  A customer should not have to track down a common carrier or file a complaint in order to obtain accident insurance information.  This was not “reasonable service” and Mr. Colligan prevails on this claim.   

BUSINESS ADDRESS

Complainant questions whether the Respondent listed an actual and correct business address with the Commission. 

The Code provides:

(d)  Change of address.  It is the duty of a party to apprise the Commission promptly of changes to the party’s current address.

52 Pa. Code § 1.53(d).
Additionally, the secretarial letter issued in A-2015-2473983 granting Valley Forge the authority to transport, as a common carrier, by motor vehicle, persons in group and party service also advised:

You should become familiar with the requirements of 52 Pa.Code as applicable to the operation of a common carrier as authorized by this grant of authority.  Any change in address of Valley Forge Limo Co., LLC t/a VF Chauffeured must be reported to the Commission by filing a Change of Address Form.  This form can be found on the Commission’s website at:  
www.puc.pa.gov/general /onlineforms/pdf/MC_Address_Change.pdf
Failure to comply with all applicable requirements may subject the carrier to penalties, including fines, suspension of operating rights or cancellation of authority.  Title 52 of the Pennsylvania Code may be accessed at www.pacode.com.

(Re:  Application of Valley Forge Limo Co., LLC t/a VF Chauffeured, A-2015-2473983, September 1, 2015 Secretarial letter). The Commission also provides a change of address form on its website. 

A prima facie case that Respondent did not comply with Commission requirements and the Code was established.  Mr. Colligan testified that he unsuccessfully attempted to contact and serve a subpoena at the 5985 Gulph “Court” address listed by Respondent with the State Department of State, Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the United States Postal Service. Additionally, mail sent by the Commission to the Gulph “Court” address in Commission records was returned as undeliverable. 

In rebuttal, Mr. Mikhail testified that he provided the Commission with the Henderson Street address and that this is the address where his vehicles are parked and the Valley Forge Limo office is located.  (Tr. 60).  Henderson Street is also the address on the website available to the public. Also, documents in this action that were served by the Commission to the Henderson Street and the 598 S. Gulph “Road” addresses found in Commission records were not returned as undeliverable.  
           That 598 S. Gulph Court is listed as 5958 Gulph Court when the address to which mail was sent by the Commission without incident was 598 S. Gulph “Road” can be attributed to typing error and not any violation by the Respondent. However, Commission records contain various different addresses for the Respondent, including the Henderson Street address as well as the incorrect Gulph “Court” address, from which mail sent by the Commission was returned as undeliverable. Additionally, Mr. Mikhail testified that there is now a different legal address for Valley Forge Limo.  At the time of the hearing, the Commission was not notified of the new address. 

Although it may generally appear minor, the importance of an entity with Commission authority apprising the Commission of any change of address and the correct address is illustrated here.  First, a member of the public who utilizes a service of a business should not have to track down the address of that business.  Second, mail issued by the Commission will be returned as undeliverable if an accurate and current address is not provided to the Commission.  

Nevertheless, no violation is found here. How, why and when certain addresses were known by the Commission is not clear and cannot be determined. Also, because Mr. Mikhail at some point provided some office at the Commission with the Henderson Street address at which he regularly receives Valley Forge Limo mail and where he parks his vehicles and has an office, the oversights discussed here do not rise to a violation.  However, the Respondent is urged to reconcile public records, and Commission information, to reflect accurate and current contact information. 
Civil Penalty



The Public Utility Code provides for penalties where there is a Code violation.  It states in relevant part:

If any public utility ... shall violate any of the provisions of this part, or shall do any matter or thing herein prohibited; or shall fail, omit, neglect or refuse to obey, observe, and comply with any regulation or final direction, requirement, determination or order made by the Commission, ... such public utility, person or corporation for such violation, omission, failure, neglect, or refusal, shall forfeit and pay to the Commonwealth a sum not exceeding $1,000, to be recovered by an action of assumpsit instituted in the name of the Commonwealth.  In construing and enforcing the provisions of this section, the violation, omission, failure, neglect, or refusal of any officer, agent, or employee acting for, or employed by, any such public utility, person, or corporation shall, in every case be deemed to be the violation, omission, failure, neglect, or refusal of such public utility, person or corporation.

66 Pa.C.S. § 3301(a).  The standards for determining the amount of the penalty are set forth in 52 Pa.Code § 69.1201(c) (“Rosi factors”).  See also Joseph A. Rosi v. Bell Atlantic-Pennsylvania, Inc., Docket No. C-00992409 (Order entered March 16, 2000), 2000 WL 1407936 (Pa. P.U.C.).  On November 29, 2007, the Commission adopted, Final Policy Statement for Litigated and Settled Proceedings Involving Violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission Regulations; Docket No. M-00051875, 37 Pa. B. 6755 (Order published December 22, 2007) (52 Pa.Code Chapter 69).  



Here Valley Forge is found in violation of Section 1501 in that Valley Forge’s denial, avoidance and then delay in providing insurance information to a customer following an accident was unreasonable service.  A penalty will be imposed here in light of the ten factors set out in Rosi.

(1)
Whether the conduct at issue was of a serious nature... such as willful fraud or misrepresentation, the conduct may warrant a higher penalty.  When the conduct is less egregious, such as administrative filing, or technical errors, it may warrant a lower penalty.



The violation here was not an administrative or technical error and is of a serious nature. Complainant repeatedly asked for the insurance information but the Respondent did not provide it until the morning of the hearing.  It is axiomatic that eventually, at some point in time, a car or limousine service will be engaged in an accident.  The Commission requires that authorized common carriers have insurance for such an event.  A passenger when such an accident occurs should not have to chase down a common carrier to obtain insurance information.  Such conduct warrants more than a slight penalty. 

(2)
Whether the resulting consequences of the conduct at issue were of a serious nature such as personal injury or property damage, the consequences may warrant a higher penalty.



The Respondent’s actions here did not result in additional injury to the Complainant, suggesting that a high penalty is not warranted. 

(3)
Whether the conduct at issue was deemed intentional or negligent.  This factor may only be considered in evaluating litigated cases.  When conduct has been deemed intentional, the conduct may result in a higher penalty.

The record more than suggests that Valley Forge deliberately, until the morning of the hearing, avoided providing Complainant with insurance information, supporting more than a small penalty here. 

(4)
Whether the regulated entity made efforts to modify internal practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar conduct in the future.  These modifications may include activities such as training and improving company techniques and supervision.  The amount of time it took the utility to correct the conduct once it was discovered and the involvement of top-level management in correcting the conduct may be considered.



To correct the conduct here took the Respondent five months after the accident and required Mr. Colligan to file a Complaint with the Commission.  Such efforts should not have been required of a customer of an authorized common carrier.  This also suggests that more than a minor penalty is appropriate. 

(5)
The number of customers affected and the duration of the violation.



Two customer were affected here, for about six or seven months.  There is no evidence that other customers also had to go to great lengths to obtain insurance information.  However, a penalty would encourage Valley Forge to promptly provide such information in the future. 

(6)
The compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation.  An isolated incident from an otherwise compliant utility may result in a lower penalty, whereas frequent, recurrent violations by a utility may result in a higher penalty.



The hearing record does not show a history of or any previous violations by the Respondent.

(7)
Whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission's investigation.  Facts establishing bad faith, active concealment of violations or attempts to interfere with Commission investigations may result in a higher penalty.



This factor is not applicable here.

(8)
The amount of the civil penalty of fine necessary to deter future violations.  The size of the utility may be considered to determine an appropriate penalty amount.



A significant, if not substantial, penalty is needed to encourage the Respondent to provide insurance information to passengers when there is an accident.  Here, a passenger was injured and had to track down the Respondent and file a Complaint in order to obtain insurance information.  This is certainly not reasonable service.  A penalty of $800 will be imposed here.

(9)
Past Commission decision in similar situations.



There were no decisions directly regarding failure to provide insurance information.  However,  in Grant Schauer v. Yellow Cab Company of Pittsburgh 2012 Pa. PUC LEXIS 1694 (Pa. PUC 2012), a penalty of $1,500 dollars was imposed where the passenger attempted to pay his fare with a bill larger than the amount due, and the Respondent refused to provide the passenger with the proper change.  The $800 penalty imposed here would not be extraordinary and arbitrary.
(10)
Other relevant factors.



There are no other relevant factors to consider.



A fine of $800 is imposed.  This is calculated at $300 for failure to provide insurance information to Complainant once notified the Complainant and Ms. Ayala were at the hospital and $100 per month for each of the five months between the date of the accident and the date of the hearing, when the information was finally provided.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Commission has jurisdiction over the subject matter of and the parties to this proceeding.  66 Pa.C.S. § 701, 49 U.S.C. § 14501(a)(2).

2. The Complainant is seeking relief from the Commission and therefore has the burden of proof.  66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a). 
3. Every public utility is required to furnish and maintain adequate, efficient, safe, and reasonable service and facilities. 66 Pa.C.S. § 1501.
4. Complainant has met his burden of proof with respect to the Respondent’s failure to provide insurance information.  66 Pa.C.S. § 332(a).
5. Complainant has not met his burden of proof with respect to the other allegations.
6. Where a violation, omission, failure, neglect, or refusal is found, the Respondent may be required to forfeit and pay to the Commonwealth a sum not exceeding $1,000.  66 Pa.C.S. § 3301(a).
ORDER



THEREFORE,



IT IS ORDERED:

1. That the complaint filed by Thomas James Colligan at Docket No. C-2016-2536796 is granted in part and denied and dismissed in part.

2. That the claim of unreasonable service with respect to the Respondent providing insurance information is granted.

3. That the claims regarding failure to report to the police, the Respondent’s address and operation of the vehicle are denied and dismissed. 

4. That within 30 days of the Final Order in this matter, defendant determine whether the correct address is filed with the Commission and on its website concerning Commission authorized activity and, if not, provide the correct address to the Commission.

5. That Valley Forge Limo Co. LLC  t/a VF Chauffeured. shall pay a civil penalty in the amount of $800 for the violation of the Public Utility Code by sending a certified check or money order payable to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, within thirty (30) days from the entry of the Final Commission Order to:

Secretary
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission
P.O. Box 3265
Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265

6.
That the docket at Docket No. C-2016-2536796 is marked closed.

Date:    December 7, 2016 




/s/












Darlene Davis Heep








Administrative Law Judge 
� 	Complainant is not seeking damages and therefore that issue will not be addressed.


� 	Failure to report the accident to the police was raised during the hearing.  (Tr. 26).  Regarding the distracted driving claim, Complainant referred to the language in his subpoena documents regarding distracted driving as an amendment to his complaint.  (Tr. 8).  Although these amendments are not in conformity with the Commission’s procedural rules, the allegation of distracted driving is accepted as an amendment to the Complaint pursuant to Section 1.81 of Chapter 52 of the Pa.Code.  52 Pa.Code § 1.2(a) provides that the rules of procedure may be “liberally construed to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action or proceeding to which it is applicable” and that “[t]he  . . . presiding officer at any stage of an action or proceeding may disregard an error or defect of procedure which does not affect the substantive rights of the parties.”  The substantive rights of the parties were not affected with these amendments. 
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